A. INTRODUCTION

Appellant Lewis County (the "County ") brought this action

against Respondent State of Washington ( the "State ") seeking

declaratory relief only. Specifically, the County sought a

declaration that the State and not the County bears civil liability for

the official acts of judges, commissioners, and other officers and

employees of the Superior Court of the State of Washington for

Thurston County, except for acts falling within defined and

exceptional classes. The County now appeals from an order of the

Superior Court of Washington for Thurston County granting

judgment on the pleadings to Respondent State of Washington (the

State ") on the ground that the case brought by the County did not

present an actual, present, and existing dispute, and dismissing the

County's action. 
1

B. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal such as this from a judgment on the pleadings,

the appellate court reviews the facts alleged in the pleadings in the

1 C.P. 101 -02, referencing the Court's letter opinion (C.P. 98 -100).
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light most favorable to the nonmoving party in the court below.

Questions of law are reviewed de novo.

C. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The County respectfully submits that the Superior Court

erred in concluding that it lacked jurisdiction to hear this action,

notwithstanding the provisions of the Washington Uniform

Declaratory Judgment Act, in that the action failed to bring an

actual case or controversy before the court.

D. FACTS

For purposes of deciding this jurisdictional issue only, the

State indicated that it "has no objection" to the consideration of a

draft set of stipulations prepared by the County. Very simply put,

Lewis County, like its sister counties, has been burdened with

significant financial responsibility and liability for many decades for

any and all culpable acts of officials of the Superior Court of the

State of Washington serving the people of its county. The cost to

2
Harrell v. Washington State ex rel. Dept. ofSoc. Health Services, - -- Wn.App. - - -, 285

P.3d 159, 166 (2012).

3

Davenport v. Wash. Educ. Assn, 147 Wn.App. 704, 715, 197 P.3d 686 (2008).

4 RCW ch. 7.24
5

State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (C.P. 40), 4:11 -13. The draft stipulations
comprise C.P. 63 -66.
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Lewis County alone totaled some $193,667 in the period 2000

through 2011. The cost to the several counties in the State which

are insured by one specific insurer (together with the cost to that

insurer) for defense, settlements, and judgments in such claims in

the same 11 -year period came to over $2.3 million.

These claims arose out of acts and omissions of the

employees of the juvenile justice facilities run by the several

superior courts, as well as out of personnel - related claims arising

within the several superior courts themselves. The county often is

precluded, due to contractual commitments is has been obliged to

make to its insurer, from electing to fight claims, which might enable

the county to raise the issue of law at the heart of this action in the

context of an action for damages against the county, brought in tort

by a specific plaintiff.

The State has contended in the court below that a 1914

Supreme Court decision establishes conclusively that the County

6 State's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings (C.P. 42). 5:3 -24. The Declaration of
Vyrle Hill (C.P. 15 -30) sets out the raw data from which these totals were compiled.

7 Hill Declaration (C.P. 16), 2:3 -6.

8

Young Declaration (C.P. 86), 2:1 -8.

3



and not the State bears the liability for the acts and omissions at

issue. However, nowhere in the record below has the State

distinguished or even addressed a formal opinion of its own

Attorney General stating that such judicial decisions — including,

specifically, the 1914 case which the State cited below — "really

involve nothing more than the legitimacy of using county funds to

pay for portions of their salaries." 
10

E. ARGUMENT

1. The UDJA and Justiciability

This Court is asked to decide whether the County's

Complaint "states a justiciable claim" under Washington declaratory

judgment law. Put another way, the Court is asked to decide

whether this action presents a proper case or controversy for

judicial resolution.

9 State's Reply (C.P. 97), 10:5 -17, citing In re Salary ofSuperior Court Judges, 82 Wash.
623, 626 -28, 144 P. 929 (1914).

10 Wash. Att'y Gen. Op. 1979 Ns 14, 1979 WL 30939 at *1. The Opinion stated as well
that the superior court judges of each county had a dual county status only in so much
as "they are elected on a county or district basis and under Article IV, §13, .... and

receive half of their salaries from their respective counties ".

M



Washington, along with over 40 other States, has enacted

the Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act ( "UDJA "). " The

Washington UDJA grants our courts "power to declare rights,

status, and other legal relations whether or not further relief is or

could be claimed. 
02

However, it goes on to provide for courts to

decline to render declaratory judgments in cases where declaratory

relief will not "terminate the uncertainty or controversy giving rise to

the proceeding. 
03

2. The four - element test for justiciability

The Supreme Court has ruled that a four -part test shall

determine whether an action for a declaratory judgment presents a

justiciable issue. There must be —

11 The UDJA comprises chapter 7.24 of the Revised Code of Washington. The UDJA has
been enacted in Alabama, Arizona, Arkansas, Colorado, Delaware, Florida,

Georgia, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Maryland,

Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Jersey,
New Mexico, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon,

Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah,
Vermont, Virgin Islands, Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and

Wyoming. See Table of Jurisdictions Wherein Act Has Been Adopted, which can be
found at

https: / /a. next. westlaw. com/ Relatedlnformation /N8CF7D65098C611DA87BED8965A862

AAA /ContextAnalysis. html? originationContext= documentTab &transitionType= ContextA

nalysis &contextData =(sc. Category)& docSource= c93617f449924bde81e389231d88cbd8
and is reproduced as Appendix A to this brief.

12 RCW 7.24.010.
13 RCW 7.24.060.
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1) ... an actual, present and existing dispute, or the

mature seeds of one, as distinguished from a

possible, dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot

disagreement, (2) between parties having genuine

and opposing interests, (3) which involves interests

that must be direct and substantial, rather than

potential, theoretical, abstract or academic, and (4) a

judicial determination of which will be final and

conclusive." 
14

The County contends that — (1) given the frequency and

regularity with which damage claims against the officers and

employees of the 39 superior court of the State arise, and with

which damage claims arise against the officers and employees of

the Superior Court of Washington for Lewis County, the mature

seeds of a dispute certainly are present; this issue presented to the

Court is anything but dormant, hypothetical, speculative, or moot.

2) The interests of the State of Washington and of Lewis County

are genuine, and they are in clear opposition to one another. (3)

The sums of money at stake make the parties' interests quite

14

Coppernoll v. Reed, 155 Wn.2d 290, 300, 119 P.3d 318, 323 (2005) (bold emphasis
added), citing Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley, 82 Wn. 2d 811, 815, 514 P.2d 137
1973).

L



substantial. Finally, (4) given that the "constitutional" question to

be decided in this case will be as close to a pure issue of law as

one can have in the real world, the ultimate judicial determination of

that issue (in whatever court that determination may occur) will offer

finality to the parties. 
16

The County agrees with the contention that a controversy

must be ripe or justiciable before it is appropriate for resolution

through declaratory judgment. Our courts hold that an action will

be ripe "if the issues raised are primarily legal and do not require

further factual development ". No dispute appears to exist as to

is Once again, see the Hill Declaration (C.P. 15 -30). For purposes of UDJA action, courts
recognize declarations or affidavits of the appropriate financial officer of a plaintiff unit
of government concerning its losses or expenses over time as an appropriate means for
demonstrating its "substantial interest in the relief it seeks ". Health & Hosp. Corp. of
Marion County v. Marion County, 470 N.E.2d 1348, 1353 (Ind.App. 1984).

16 The county submits that the substantive issue of law which ultimately is to be
resolved in this action is quasi - constitutional at the very least. While the organization,
structure, and status of Washington's counties are not set out in the text of our State
Constitution, the appellant submits that their status and nature have achieved, through
convention, a quasi - constitutional status. Cf. the discussion in the English context of
certain legal rules and also of certain conventions as elements of constitutional law in A.
V. Dicey's Seminal LECTURES INTRODUCTORY TO THE LAW OF THE CONSTITUTION (London, 1885),
especially ch. 1, "The True Nature of Constitutional Law," at 24 -34. While this concept is
anathema in federal constitutional theory within this country, there is little good reason
for it automatically to be dismissed out of hand for purposes of state constitutional
analysis and interpretation. See G. Alan Tarr, UNDERSTANDING STATE CONSTITUTIONS (1998),
ch. "State Constitutional Interpretation," 171 -209.

17 Bellewood Ns 1, L.L.C. v. LOMA, 124 Wn.App. 45, 50, 97 P.3d 747, 750 (2004) (citation
omitted).
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pertinent facts. The sole matter at issue in this case is the quasi-

constitutional status of judicial officers and their employees as

between two levels of government. Certainly, this is an issue of

Il.

3. Sister -state case law under the Uniform Declaratory
Judgment Act.

Appellate case law from the various States which have

enacted the UDJA recognizes that such state constitutional issues

are especially well suited for determination through declaratory

judgment actions. our legal system, a final judicial declaration

upon a point of state constitutional law typically settles the matter

for all concerned.

More specifically still, and independently of the question of

whether a constitutional issue is present or not, UDJA case law

recognizes that an action for a declaration is an appropriate means

18 The Legislature has directed that deference be given to Sister -state decisions
interpreting and construing the UDJA: see RCW 7.24.140.

19 Goldston v. State of North Carolina, 361 N.C. 26, 35, 637 S.E.2d 876, 882; (2006)
County of Allegheny v. C'wth of Pa., 517 Pa. 65, 70, 534 A.2d 760, 762 (1987); Colonial
Pipeline Co. v. Morgan, 263 S.W.3d 827, 837 (Tenn. 2008).



for a local government to use to resolve "uncertainty and insecurity

with respect to its rights." 
20

The county here seeks to resolve the

uncertainty and insecurity which surrounds the issue of whether it,

or another level of government, will have to find the tens or

hundreds of thousands of dollars which may be required to settle

the next major claim arising out of the acts or omissions of a

superior court clerical employee or a juvenile detention officer.

4. But for resolution through declaratory judgment, the issue
of law between the parties is evasive of resolution.

Perhaps the legal question presented for resolution in this

declaratory judgment action as to the quasi - constitutional status of

judges and court officers ultimately could be resolved in the context

of a particular tort action. Conceivably, Lewis County's insurer

could elect to deny coverage on the ground that a named

defendant was a state actor and not a county actor when he or she

allegedly committed a tort or breached an employment contract.

Or, conceivably, Lewis County could forgo insurance coverage and

20 In re Charleston Gazette F01A Request, 222 W.Va. 771, 777, 671 S.E.2d 776, 782
2009). See also Milwaukee Dist. Council 48 v. Milwaukee County, 244 Wis.2d 333, 352,
627 N.W.2d 866, 875 -76 (2001); Middlesex County Sewerage Auth. v. Borough of
Middlesex, 74 N.J. Super. 591, 600, 181 A.2d 818, 823 (1962), aff'd 79 N.J.Super. 24, 190
A.2d 205 (App.Div. 1963).

J



litigate the constitutional issue in the context of a case where

wrongful conduct indeed exists. However, either course of conduct

would see either the county or its insurer place itself in significant

and unnecessary financial peril. 
21

Either decision would be

imprudent, in the extreme.

The rationale underlying the UDJA is to allow a party like

Lewis County to get an authoritative resolution to an issue such as

this, without having to incur such a risk. A proceeding for a

declaration also is appropriate because it avoids the consequent

delay.

Conversely, UDJA case law also holds that the eventual

availability of a resolution of the question of law through a particular

factual case is not a proper defense to a declaratory judgment

action. 
24

Only when something more, factually, is needed to

21 See the Declaration of Paulette Young, Lewis County Risk and Safety Administrator
C. P. 85 -86).

22 Acevedo v. Kim, 284 Ga. 629, 633 -34, 669 S.E.2d 127, 131 (2008). See also City of
Atlanta v. Hotels.com, L.P., 285 Ga. 231, 233, 234, 235 -36, 674 S.E.2d 898, 900, 901, 902

2009).

23

Carvey v. West Virginia State Board of Ed., 206 W.Va. 720, 726, 527 S.E.2d 831, 837
1999).

24 Greene v. Wiese, 75 S.D. 515, 518, 69 N.W.2d 323, 327 (1955).
10



further sharpen the issue" is the resolution of a pure issue of law

such as that underlying this action unsuited for declaratory

judgment. 
25

No such further facts are required in the present

context: the issue is acutely sharp upon the record, just as it

stands.

The County recognizes that in future actions for damages

arising from the allegedly wrongful acts or omissions of superior

court judges and their subordinates, specific issues of fact may

arise. No doubt not all future litigation will be avoided through the

resolution of the present constitutional issue through this cause of

action. No doubt future cases will present contested questions of

fact. This is true in many instances in which declaratory judgments

are sought and rendered. Nonetheless, resolution of this major and

underlying legal issue remains appropriate for declaratory

judgment.

5. The fallacy underlying the opinion below

25

Coppernoll, 155 Wn.2d at 300, 119 P.3d at 323.

26 Kronovet v. Lipchin, 288 Md. 30, 59, 415 A.2d 1096, 1112 (1980).
11



The Superior Court erred because it harbored a fundamental

misconception. In his letter opinion, His Honor Judge Wickham

stated his reasons for granting judgment on the pleadings to the

State as follows:

The case currently before this Court does not present
an actual, present, and existing dispute'. Nor at their

interests involved which are d̀irect and substantial.' There is

no tort claim pending and there has been no demand for
payment made." 

27

In so reasoning, His Honor Judge Wickham appears to ignore the

text as well as the purpose of the Uniform Declaratory Judgment

Act. His Honor is saying that unless relief is sought in a case at

which a money judgment is sought, relief cannot be granted. That,

clearly, is not the law of this State.

In the court below the State attempted to refute the County's

argument that this case is ripe for determination through a

27 Letter Opinion (C.P. 100), p. 3, ¶1.

28

Washington Uniform Declaratory Judgment Act, RCW 7.24.010: "Courts of record
within their respective jurisdictions shall have power to declare rights, status and other
legal relations whether or not further relief is or could be claimed. An action or
proceeding shall not be open to objection on the ground that a declaratory judgment or
decree is prayed for. The declaration may be either affirmative or negative in form and
effect; and such declarations shall have the force and effect of a final judgment or
decree."

12



declaratory judgment, relying largely upon the Supreme Court's

decision in Diversified Industries. In Diversified, a heavy, iron

fence - ornament had fallen and had struck a four - year -old child.

The lessor of the property brought a declaratory judgment action

against the lessee, with no personal injury claim yet presented to

anyone, to determine whether the lessor or the tenant of the rea

property should bear liability for any injuries which the little girl may

or may not have sustained . Against this factual background, the

Supreme Court held the case to present no case or controversy.

The Supreme Court so ruled for one reason, and for one reason

only: the possibility of there being a claim to be made on the child's

behalf was nothing more than "an unpredictable contingency ".

By contrast, the record in this present action clearly shows

that numerous claims, worth many hundreds of thousands of

dollars, have been brought, year in and year out, in respect of acts

or omissions of the judges and officers of the Superior Courts of

Washington for Lewis County and for its sister counties. The

29

Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley, 82 Wn.2d 811, 514 P.2d 137 (1973). See State's
Reply in Support of Defendant's 12(b)1) and 12(c) Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings
C.P. 42), 5:21 to 7:2.
30

Diversified, 82 Wn.2d at 812 -13, 514 P.2d at 138.
31

Diversified, 82 Wn.2d at 815, 514 P.2d at 140
13



occurrence of further such claims certainly has been shown to be

anything but an "unpredictable contingency" for appellant Lewis

County and its insurer.

Secondarily, the State has contended that the County's

claims are not ripe because any decision going to the merits of its

claims can be reversed through legislation. The State contends

that for this reason, any judicial resolution of the case is incapable

of being "final and conclusive," as is required by the fourth element

of the test for the suitability of a case for resolution through

declaratory judgment, as set out in Coopernoll v. Reed.

That contention is absurd.

If judges should care to decline to rule in all cases in which

the underlying law is capable of amendment by the legislature at

some point in the future, and in such cases should judges simply

send the litigants packing, then the State of Washington (as well as

its several counties) could save a great deal of money; for then the

32 State's Reply in Support of Defendant's 12(b)1) and 12(c) Motion for Judgment on the
Pleadings (C.P. 93), 5:1 -21.

33

Coopernoll, 155 Wn.2d at 300, 119 P.3d at 323, citing Diversified, 82 Wn.2d at 815.

14



courts of law then should be left with no business to conduct, and

all of our courthouses simply could be closed.

6. The public importance exception to the case or controversy
requirement in Washington law

A further and independent basis exists for granting this

appeal, and for permitting the resolution of the question of the

constitutional status of judges and their subordinates through this

present declaratory judgment action. The latter question presents a

significant and continuing matter of public importance that merit[s]

judicial resolution. ""

There is no express case or controversy clause in. the

Washington State Constitution. Perhaps it is for that reason that

Washington case law calls for a liberal approach to issues of

standing in cases affecting " significant segments of the

34 American Traffic Solutions, Inc. v. City of Bellingham, 163 Wn.App. 427, 433, 260 P.3d
245, 248 (2011); Farris v. Munro, 99 Wn.2d 326, 330, 662 P.2d 821 (1983).

35 The Washington Constitution remains "more in the nature of a declaration of the
names of courts than it is of a definition of judicial power; . . ." Bellingham Bay Imp. Co.
v. City of New Whatcom, 20 Wash. 53, 58, 54 P. 774 aff'd, 20 Wash. 231, 55 P. 630
1898), and cited in Robert F. Utter and Hugh D. Spitzer, THE WASHINGTON STATE
CONSTITUTION (2011), 105.

15



population," 
36

or whose outcome will affect an entire sector of the

economy. 
37

As explained above, practical concerns in the world of

insurer and insured render it perilous and imprudent to attempt to

resolve the issue of the constitutional status of judges and their

subordinates in the context of tort or contract litigation. Standing

issues are relaxed in Washington law when, as here, issues of

major public concern require resolution . The State has cited in

the court below to DiNino v. State ex reL Gorton
39

in contending

that this case is not one to be resolved on that basis. The County

submits that DiNino very clearly is distinguishable on its facts.

In DiNino, a woman who was neither pregnant nor terminally

ill sued to obtain a declaration as to the validity of a directive she

gave regarding life- sustaining procedures. The Court held that the

issue of law about which she sought a declaration did not stand to

36

Grant County Fire Prot. Dist. No. 5 v. City of Moses Lake, 145 Wn.2d 702, 715, 42 P.3d
394, 400 (2002), vacated in part on reh'g, 150 Wn.2d 791, 83 P.3d 419 (2004).

37

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