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

social guests, a small child and her parents, onto their property.  While on

the property,  the child was injured by an object that was improperly

secured to a fence. Id. at 812.  The insurers of lessor and the lessees made

payments to the child' s parents for medical expenses until the child' s

family moved to a different state. 5 Id. No further written claim, or demand,

for or on behalf of the minor was made; however, due to the age of the

child, the statute of limitations would be tolled for an extended period of

time. Id. For this reason, the lessor brought suit for declaratory judgment

against the lessee for an adjudication of potential future financial

responsibility as between lessor and lessee in connection with the

accident.  Id.  at 813.  The Washington Supreme Court held that no

justiciable controversy was presented because no current claim for

Lewis County erroneously tries to distinguish this case as one in which no
claim for payment had ever been made.  Lewis County Opening Brief at 13.  To the

contrary, like Lewis County, the plaintiff tried to convince the court that past payments
were sufficient to establish a current case or controversy, even without a current demand,
and the court rejected that contention. Diversified Industries, 82 Wn.2d at 814.
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damages for the guest' s injury had been made or was threatened and

because the circumstances and extent of the injury were not specifically

alleged so as to allow determination of the risk involved. Id. at 814. The

Court further ruled that the case was not justiciable because the law could

change before a claim was ever filed. Id. at 815.

Here,  as in Diversified,  we have two parties in a theoretical

dispute6

about potential liability for a potential future claim. Lewis County

identifies no actual or threatened claim or claimant.  A number of potential

county employees and their county employers are identified in the

complaint as potential targets for such unasserted future claims, but their

culpability is apparently assumed based on undescribed circumstances and

unidentified theories of liability.  The requested relief would purport to be

legally conclusive on all future claimants and plaintiffs,  as well as

enforceable against unjoined courts and staff,  whoever they may be,

whatever their circumstances.

Additionally, the Diversified Court' s admonition that it would be

improper to decide the case on the merits when the law could easily

6 Element two of the Wash. Republican Party, 141 Wn.2d at 284, test for UDJA
justiciability is that the parties have opposing interests.  The facts pleaded by Lewis
County show that, at of 2011, based on its own custom and practice, the County did not
contest its liability, thereby agreeing with the State.  Can the County simply change its
mind and decide, from now on, it will disregard state law and county practice, in order to
create" opposing interests" sufficient to create a justiciable case?

Similarly, the third element — that the interests at issue be " substantial" — is

hardly met when the County' s own testimony shows past claims averaged less than
15, 000 per year. ( See p. 11).
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change before a claim was filed was equally compelling here because the

Legislature has plenary authority over counties and legally can assign to

counties the full financial burden of fulfilling governmental functions that

serve both state and county interest.  State ex.  Rel.  Pierce County v.

Clausen, 95 Wash. 214, 231- 32, 163 P. 744, ( 1917).  As the Legislature

has already so legislated  ( RCW 4. 96. 010)  and can legislate again

regarding the counties'  financial responsibilities for their employees'

misdeeds,  the Complaint did not raise claims that would be finally

resolved by judicial declaration.   This conclusion is not absurd as the

County argues in its Brief at 14; it is settled law.

Finally, Lewis County argues that its contracts with an insurance

pool preclude the County from litigating this case with actual claimants

and a genuine, current fact pattern applicable to an identifiable defendant.

Lewis County Opening Brief at 3.   However, the declaration testimony

cited for this proposition only states that the County " may lose" coverage

if the County proceeds to trial when the insurer elects to settle.   CP 86.

The testimony simply does not support the County' s position that it is

contractually " precluded" from litigating this case in an actual, current,

fact-based context.  Nor can its private insurance contracts relieve it of its

responsibility to state a justiciable claim.  Indeed, a separate action for a

declaration of non- liability could be initiated.    See Karl B.  Tegland,
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Washington Practice, Specific Applications— Contract Rights, Insurance §

42. 29 n. 1  ( 2011), or a third-party claim ( if an actual claim is asserted

against the County)  could be asserted against the State under RCW

4. 22.040 and . 050.  In either scenario Lewis County would be litigating

based on specific facts that are not part of a moot claim, with real parties

plaintiff and defendant.  Lewis County has justiciable alternatives to the

dismissed case below:  it just prefers not to pursue them.

Contrary to Lewis County' s position,  a justiciable case or

controversy cannot subsist of a pure issue of law that is utterly devoid of

facts, fails to join claimants and their intended targets, and that would

produce a declaratory judgment that would change fundamentally State-

County powers and obligations that have been determined for decades.

B.       To Be Justiciable Or Produce A Binding Result, All Necessary
Parties Must Be Before The Court

A case is not justiciable when a plaintiff fails to name all parties

whose interests or status may be affected by a declaratory judgment.

Northwest Animal Rights Network v. State, 158 Wn. App. 237, 242, 242

P. 3d 891 ( 2010).  The question of whether all necessary parties must be

joined in order to have a case or controversy was decided in Bainbridge

Citizens United, 147 Wn. App.  at 371.  A trial court lacks jurisdiction in a

uniform declaratory judgment act case unless plaintiff joins " all persons ...
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who have or claim any interest which would be affected by the

declaration." Id. at 372. A party is necessary if( 1) the trial court cannot

make a complete determination of the controversy without that party' s

presence, ( 2) the party's ability to protect its interest in the subject matter

of the litigation would be impeded by a judgment in the case, and ( 3)

judgment in the case necessarily would affect the party's interest.  Id.  All

three factors justified dismissal below because Lewis County declined to

name actual or potential claimants or the county juvenile court and county

staff identified as the targets of such claims.

In Bainbridge Citizens United, the plaintiffs sought a declaration

that the Department of Transportation should be compelled to enforce

WAC provisions against alleged trespassers in Eagle Harbor,  but the

plaintiff did not join the alleged trespassers as parties. Id.  at 372. The

plaintiffs argued that the trespassers were not necessary parties because

plaintiffs did not request that any action be taken directly against the

trespassers, and thus the effects that a judicial determination might have

on the trespassers was speculative and secondary to the issue at hand. Id.

The Court rejected this argument noting that the remedy sought by the

plaintiffs was to force the Department to evict the trespassers. Id. at 373.

Accordingly, the trespassers were necessary parties. Id.  See also, Glandon
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v.  Searle,  68 Wn.2d 199,  202, 412 P. 2d 116  ( 1966)  ( Potential future

claimants, if not joined, will not be bound by declaratory judgment).

Here, Lewis County has not joined the plaintiffs in any future

claim or lawsuit against county judicial branch employees. Nor can it do

so because they do not exist.   Furthermore, future plaintiffs might have

claims now against the county that would fail if they were required to

pursue them exclusively against the state or they may have theories of

county liability that have not been considered before but would be

absolutely foreclosed by the decree requested in this case. The rights of

these future plaintiffs to manage their own litigation and to obtain justice

would be prejudiced, as would the rights of non-parties like the superior

court, the juvenile court, their judges and staff because they are not parties

to this case.  Simply put, if Lewis County wants a court to rule, based on

the state constitution or otherwise, regarding the " legal status" of these

entities and their personnel,  due process requires their joinder.   If the

County similarly wants the Court to foreclose suits by those injured by

county employees or institutions, due process mandates their joinder.

Finally, Lewis County has waived any appeal of this dispositive

issue by failing to assign error to the issue or to brief it as an error

committed by the trial court.  Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Commercial Union Ins.

Co., 142 Wn.2d 654, 692- 93, 15 P. 3d 115 ( 2000); Christensen v. Munsen,
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123 Wn.2d 237, 867 P. 2d' 626 ( 1994).  Whether based on waiver or as a

distinct element of justiciability that the County has failed to prove, this

Court can affirm dismissal on this basis alone.

C.       While Washington Courts Occasionally Invoke Their
Discretion To Apply A More Liberal Approach To

Justiciability For Issues Of Great Public Importance,  The

Trial Court Appropriately Did Not Do So In This Case

While this case clearly fails to meet the strict elements of

justiciability in Washington, the County claims its action, filed solely on

its own behalf, constitutes an " issue of great public importance" because

county liability for claims against judicial branch employees is of general

concern to each of Washington' s 39 counties and their citizens.   CP 6.

Washington courts have occasionally invoked their jurisdiction in

declaratory judgment actions over matters of great public importance,

even in cases that are wanting for some of the elements of a justiciable

controversy. Sorenson v. City ofBellingham, 80 Wn.2d 547, 557, 496 P. 2d

512 ( 1972). However, they have only done so when the matter in question

is of such great and overriding public moment as to constitute the legal

equivalent of all of the elements of a justiciable controversy. Id.. Whether

or not to invoke this more liberal approach to justiciability is a matter of

discretion for the court.   State ex rel. Distilled Spirits Institute, Inc.  v.

Kinnear, 80 Wn.2d 175, 178, 492 P. 2d 1012 ( 1972).
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Significantly, the Washington Supreme Court has held that the

great public importance"  basis for jurisdiction to render declaratory

judgments is disfavored and should only be invoked in rare circumstances.

Walker v. Munro, 124 Wn.2d 402, 419, 879 P. 2d 920 ( 1994).  The court

also stated that any suggestion that courts routinely by pass justiciability

for cases of major public import was " an overstatement." Id. at 415.  The

trial court below accordingly declined to exercise jurisdiction on this

exceptional basis.  CP 100.

In Walker,  a citizen' s action group sued,  requesting a writ of

mandamus, declaratory judgment, and an injunction, based on a claim that

provisions of an initiative limiting expenditures, taxation, and fees were

unconstitutional. Id.  at 405.  The court stated that its examination of

numerous " major public import" cases showed that even if the court does

not always adhere to all four requirements of the justiciability test, it will

not render judgment on a hypothetical or speculative controversy, where

concrete harm has not been alleged. Id. at 415.

Similarly, in a case dealing with the constitutionality of the Natural

Death Act, the Supreme Court refused to render a declaratory judgment

even when  " obviously important constitutional rights were involved."

DiNino v.  State ex rel.  Gorton,  102 Wn.2d 327,  332,  684 P.2d 1297

1984).    In DiNino,  a woman who was not terminally ill wanted a
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declaration of the validity of her directive to her physician regarding life-

sustaining procedures, which differed from the model directive in the act

as far as pregnancy and abortion provisions.  DiNino, 102 Wn.2d at 332.

Despite the importance of the issues involved, the court held that the case

was not justiciable,   as it presented a   " hypothetical,   speculative

controversy".  Id.  The court went on to hold that without a factual

controversy before it, "an advisory opinion would not be beneficial to the

public or to other branches of government." Id.  The same reasoning

applies with equal force here because Lewis County has failed to show or

even allege that any claim or action against its judicial branch employees

is pending or even contemplated.    Consistent with Supreme Court

precedent, the trial court declined to invoke its discretion to exercise

jurisdiction in this case.  To overturn that decision, Lewis County has to

establish manifest abuse of discretion and it has failed to do so.

D.       This Court Should Remand with Instructions To Dismiss On

The Merits As An Alternative to Affirming Dismissal For Lack
of Subject Matter Jurisdiction

The dismissal of Lewis County' s case was a jurisdictional ruling,

not one on the merits.  However, if this Court disagrees with the dismissal

for lack of jurisdiction, the Court should simply remand the case with

instructions to dismiss on the merits.   See Richardson v.  Danson,  44
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Wn.2d 760, 764, 270 P. 2d 802 ( 1954).'  The allegations in the complaint

and the several declarations Lewis County submitted below are factually

and legally insufficient to warrant the expansive declaratory judgment

prayed for.   At most the declarants described the nature, frequency and

amounts of historical claims,  established that the county' s executive

branch does not directly control the employment of county judicial staff

and that other counties' experiences are similar.

Reduced to its essence,  Lewis County' s case asks the court to

ignore Supreme Court precedent, to disregard or declare unconstitutional

laws enacted by the Legislature and to overlook the County' s admitted and

completely contrary custom and practice for decades.    Washington' s

Constitution makes superior court judges officers of both the State and the

County.   In re Salary of Superior Court Judges,  82 at 231- 32.   The

County,  by state law,  is already responsible,  financially and to the

exclusion of the State, for providing facilities and personnel.   Id.   The

State Legislature has constitutional authority to legislate that the County

bear the entire costs of the criminal justice system operating within the

7 The Richardson court did so because the record below was developed enough

to make a decision as a matter of law.  Here, Lewis County produced through a number
of declarations, with attachments, to establish the nature, number and dollar amounts of

court-related claims it has paid over the last several years.  The County does not dispute
the holdings of the cases and the effects of the statutes cited by the State.  The County
also failed to cite authority for granting the relief requested on the merits.  No further

record is needed.
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County.   Whatcom County v.  City of Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 544,

909 P. 2d 1303 ( 1996), State v. Agren, 32 Wn. App. 827, 828, 650 P. 2d

238 ( 1982).   The Legislature possesses plenary authority to assign the

County total fiscal responsibility for the staff and programs of the superior

courts.   Clausen, 95 Wash. at 231- 32.
8

The Legislature has done so in

RCW 4.96. 010.  The declaratory judgment Lewis County seeks would be

contrary to the settled case law and statutes of the State,  in effect

overruling Supreme Court decisions and declaring unconstitutional duly

enacted state laws.

Judgment against Lewis County on the merits is also supported by

the County' s own conduct in acknowledging exclusive county

responsibility for such claims over the last several decades.  In Neighbors

Friends of Viretta Park v. Miller, 87 Wn. App. 361, 371, 940 P. 2d 286

1997), a citizens group sought a declaratory judgment that Seattle had

exceeded its authority some 70 years prior by constructing a drive that

permitted vehicular and not pedestrian-only access to a park.  The court

denied the relief because the plaintiffs were belatedly trying to overturn a

legislative decision that could have, and should have, been challenged

long ago.  That holding has equal application to bar Lewis County from a

8

Declaratory judgment actions are particularly inappropriate in areas where the
Legislature possesses almost complete discretion to act.   See, Northwest Greyhound

Kennel Ass' n, Inc. v. State, 8 Wn. App. 314, 318- 19, 506 P. 2d 878 ( 1973).
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court-ordered, 180° change in State- County responsibilities.  Doctrines of

laches, estoppel and waiver were iron-clad defenses on the merits as well

as factors influencing the court' s decision to dismiss for lack of

jurisdiction.

Finally, the County suggests that the county executive' s alleged

lack of control over the hiring, discipline and day-to- day activities of

county judicial employees,  means that the State should be liable for

judicial employee  ( and juvenile justice employees)  misconduct,  even

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